# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/13/2018 3:28 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96302-9

Court of Appeals, Division II, No. 50824-9-II

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

POTELCO, INC.,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

v.

# DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Defendant/Respondent.

# APPELLANT POTELCO, INC.'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### FOX ROTHSCHILD LLP

Katherine Seabright, WSBA #48330 Attorneys for Appellant Potelco, Inc. 1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 4500 Seattle, WA 98154-1192 Phone: (206) 624-3600

Facsimile: (206) 389-1708

#

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### 1. The Worksite

On February 26, 2014, Potelco employees Stan Street (foreman), Bryan Chase (lineman), Jerry Circulado (lineman), and Zach Morrison (groundman) were setting a distribution pole in Olalla, Washington.

(Hearing Testimony of Zach Morrison at 78:8-10). Each of the crew members had extensive experience setting poles, including Morrison, who had set at least a couple of thousand poles prior to that day. (Morrison 86:15; Hearing Testimony of Stan Street at 103:5; Hearing Testimony of Bryan Chase at 117:2; Hearing Testimony of Jerry Circulado at 124:16). None of the crew members had ever had any accidents setting poles in the past. (Morrison 86:17; Street 103:7; Chase 117:4; Circulado 124:18). In fact, they had already successfully set one pole earlier that day and were properly equipped and ready to set another. (Morrison 86:21 - 87:1). Unfortunately, while the ground man (Mr. Morrison) was setting the pole, he slipped and the pole neared a 115 kv energized line. At the hearing before the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, each of the crew members confirmed they did not see the pole make contact with the line or enter the MAD. (Morrison at 87:13; Street 103:23; Chase 117:11-13; Circulado 125:2). Further, Department of Safety and Health ("DOSH") Inspector George Maxwell admitted that he does not actually know if the pole entered the MAD. (Maxwell at 64:25).

Although there is no evidence that the pole made contact with the line, Mr. Morrison did receive a minor shock. (Morrison 87:4-6; 87:9-13; Street 103:23; Chase 117:11-15; Circulado 125:1).

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All citations to "Hearing Testimony of..." followed by the name and citation to the record refer to the transcript of the hearing held at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals office, in Tacoma on July 27, 2015, in front of Administrative Law Judge Torem, and as part of the record on appeal.

# 2. The Inspection

Maxwell first arrived at the work site on the night of the incident, after work hours when no Potelco representatives remained at the site. (Hearing Testimony of George Maxwell 63:24 -64:12). Maxwell took photos that night and then returned to the site to take measurements and additional photos on another day. (Maxwell 19:4-7; 24: 13 - 25:2).

Maxwell met with Potelco employees Mr. Circulado, Mr. Chase, Mr. Street, and Potelco management at Potelco's Sumner office to perform an opening conference, to officially begin the Department's inspection. (Maxwell 34:21 - 35: 13). He then interviewed the crew members who were present that day and set up a subsequent interview with Mr. Morrison. *Id*.

Larry Rupe, Potelco's Director of Safety, also investigated the scene of the incident. (Hearing Testimony of Larry Rupe at 141:11). He noted that the incident pole did not have any burn marks on it and there was no physical indication of an arc. (Rupe 141:9-18). He further noted that there were no burn marks on the cross arm, the ground wire, or the brace. (Rupe 141:19-24). At the hearing, Mr. Rupe explained that in his two years of experience as Director of Safety, he has inspected sites in which a pole had made contact with an energized line and, in those instances, the contact left a burn mark on the pole. (Rupe 142:5-11). For example, in one instance, a pole came into contact with a 69 kv line, a line with significantly less voltage than the line subject to this inspection, and the contact left a burn mark on the pole. (Rupe 142:15-19).

Further, Mr. Wayne Hagan, an electrical engineering expert, provided an alternate explanation for how Mr. Morrison could have received an electrical shock without the pole ever making contact with the line or even entering the MAD. Mr. Hagan explained that an electrical field exists when there is a voltage difference across conductors. (Hearing Testimony of Wayne Hagan at 137:22-24). He further explained that when a conductive object comes within an electrical field, it will acquire a charge on it if it does not have a path where it can be discharged. (Hagan 135:5-7). The charge will stay on the object until it can be discharged to a lower voltage; often times, it seeks a path to the ground, which in this case could have been Mr. Morrison. (Hagan 138:11-14).

Based on Maxwell's inspection, the Department issued Potelco a citation and, subsequently, a Corrective Notice of Redetermination ("CNR"), which includes the following alleged violations relevant to this Petition:

- Item 1-1 (a) alleges a serious violation of WAC 296-45-325(4), which requires the employer to ensure that no employee approaches the Minimum Approach Distance (MAD) with a conductive object unless the employee is insulated from the energized part or the energized part is insulated from the employee and from any other conductive object at a different potential.
- Item 1-1 (c) alleges a serious violation of WAC 296-45-385(1)(c), which requires that an employer ensure that employees who are setting, moving or removing a pole near an exposed energized

overhead conductor wear electrical protective equipment or use insulated devices when handling the pole and that no employee contacts the pole with uninsulated parts of his or her body.

# B. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Potelco appealed the CNR and a hearing was held in Tacoma at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (the "Board") before Administrative Law Judge Torem on July 27, 2015. Following the hearing, both Potelco and the Department submitted post-hearing briefs to Judge Torem, who entered the Proposed Decision and Order ("PD&O") affirming in part and vacating in part the CNR. Judge Torem affirmed Items 1-1(a) and 1-1(c) relevant to this Petition. Potelco petitioned for review of the PD&O and on January 26, 2016, the Board issued a Decision and Order ("D&O") affirming Items 1-1(a) and 1-1(c). <sup>2</sup>

Potelco appealed the Board's D&O to the Kitsap County Superior Court. Following a hearing on July 31, 2017, Judge Kevin Hull entered an order affirming the Board's D&O and awarding statutory attorney's fees to the Department as the prevailing party. On September 5, 2017, Potelco timely appealed to the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division II,

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The D&O also vacated Item 1-1(b) of the CNR (alleging a serious violation of WAC 296-45-385(1)(b), which prohibits poles being set, moved, or removed near exposed energized overhead conductors from making contact with the conductors); upgraded Potelco's faith code and reduced the penalties accordingly; and found that Item 2-1 (alleging a general violation of WAC 296-27-021 05(2)(b), which requires that the employer enter the number of employees and hours worked into the 2013 OSHA 300A form) should have been classified as a less serious "de minimis" violation. The Department appealed this ruling to the Superior Court, which affirmed the D&O. The Department filed a notice of appeal with the Court of Appeals, but later withdrew its cross-appeal and its appeal was dismissed with prejudice.

asking the Court of Appeals to review and vacate Items 1-1(a) and 1-1(c). *Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, Kitsap County Cause No. 16-2-00370-4, Notice of Appeal to Washington State Court of Appeals, Division II, Dkt. # 2. The Court of Appeals filed an unpublished decision in this matter on August 14, 2018. *See* Exhibit A.

#### V. ARGUMENT

Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), a petition for review will be granted if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that the Supreme Court should consider. This petition for review involves such issues.

WISHA, an Act created for the "public interest," strives "to assure, insofar as may reasonably be possible, safe and healthful working conditions for every man and woman working in the State of Washington." RCW 49.17.010. To interpret WISHA regulations, Washington courts may look to the Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSHA) standards and consistent federal decisions. Wash. Cedar & Supply Co., Inc. v. Dept. of Labor and Indus., 137 Wn. App. 592, 604, 154 P.3d 287 (2007) (citing Adkins v. Aluminum Co. of Am., 110 Wn.2d 128, 147, 750 P.2d 1257 (1998)). Similar to WISHA, OSHA has a stated purpose to assure worker safety "so far as possible." 29 U.S.C. § 651(b). When Congress drafted OSHA it "quite clearly did not intend to impose strict liability: The duty was to be an achievable one...Congress intended to require the elimination only of preventable hazards." W.G. Yates & Sons Const. Co. Inc. v. Occupational Safety and Health Review Comm 'n, 459 F.3d 604, 606 (5th Cir. 2006) (quoting Horne Plumbing & Heating

Co. v. Occupational Safety and Health Review Com'n, 528 F.2d 564, 568 (5th Cir. 1976)).

This review will provide employers guidance on when the Department may issue citations related to alleged encroachment into the MAD. This will impact how employers create work plans and train employees. Because the WISHA standards are specifically designed to promote the "public interest," clarification on these issues related to WISHA compliance involves issues of substantial public interest that the Supreme Court should determine. RCW 49.17.010.

# VI. CONCLUSION

Potelco respectfully requests that the Court accept Potelco's Petition for Review, because it involves matters of substantial public interest.