FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/14/2018 2:06 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96302-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

POTELCO, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

James P. Mills Senior Counsel WSBA No. 36978 Office No. 91040 1250 Pacific Avenue, Suite 105 Tacoma WA 98402 (253) 597-3896

I. INTRODUCTION

A routine review of a safety and health citation for substantial evidence does not involve an issue of substantial public interest, contrary to Potelco, Inc.'s claims. Washington safety rules require employers to take proper precautions when working around high-voltage wires. Potelco failed to take these protections and a worker sustained shock injuries when the 45-foot power pole came too close to a live power line. The Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals found that Potelco did not ensure that workers used safety precautions sufficient to protect themselves from electrical shock. Substantial evidence supports this decision, and there is no issue of substantial public interest meriting review.

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Review is not warranted, but if review were granted, these issues would be presented:

- 1. WAC 296-45-325(4) requires employers to ensure that employees do not take an object that may conduct electricity within a specified distance of a live power line. Entering this minimum approach distance may cause an electrical arc. Potelco employees saw an electrical arc and the arc electrocuted one worker. Does substantial evidence support that Potelco employees broached the minimum approach distance?
- 2. WAC 296-45-385(1)(c) requires employers to ensure employees use insulated devices and personal protection when handling a pole near an energized overhead wire. Two employees used uninsulated devices when handling the pole near an energized wire and one employee used gloves that provided insufficient insulation for the

voltage being handled. Does substantial evidence support that Potelco employees did not use the required insulated devices?

III. COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. A Potelco Power Line Crew Member Was Injured When Potelco Failed To Follow Washington Safety Rules

In February 2014, a Potelco crew was working on a power line replacement project in Olalla, Washington. AR Morrison 77-80. The crew was setting replacement poles near an existing high-voltage overhead line. *See* AR Morrison 78. The accident occurred while the crew was setting a 45-foot pole with a 13-foot cross-arm. AR Morrison 78; AR Chase 110, 112. As the crewmember moved the pole up for placement, he slipped and the pole rotated, causing the pole's cross-arm to rotate towards the 115-kilovolt live wire. *See* AR Circulado 121. The resulting electrical current threw the worker into a ditch, caused him to lose consciousness briefly, and burned him. AR Street 96; AR Morrison 82.

Three employees heard the resulting electrical arc, and two employees saw "fire" exiting the butt of the pole. AR Morrison 81; AR Street 94; AR Chase 111-12; AR Circulado 121-22.

In the resulting investigation, the Department found that Potelco failed to maintain the minimum approach distance when working near

¹ "AR" refers to the administrative record in the certified appeal board record. The record is not consecutively numbered, so this brief references witness testimony by "AR" followed by the witness's last name.

energized wires as required by WAC 295-45-325(4). Ex 37 at 3. That regulation requires employers to ensure no employee approaches or takes a conductive object near energized wires unless equipment insulates the employee from the energized wires—here, the pole should have been no closer than 4′ 3″ from the live wires. AR Maxwell 50. The inspector concluded that this violation occurred because the electrical arc showed that Potelco employees brought conductive objects—the pole and the uninsulated Peavey hooks directing the pole—within the minimum approach distance. *See* AR Maxwell 40, 50-51, 53.

The Department also found that Potelco failed to ensure that each employee wore electrical protective equipment and failed to ensure that employees used insulated devices when handling the pole, as required by WAC 296-45-385(1)(c). AR Maxwell 53-54; Ex 37 at 4. The inspector testified that Morrison's protective equipment consisted only of a hardhat and class 2 rubber gloves limited to 17 kilovolts. AR Maxwell 41. And the employees were working on a 115-kilovolt transmission line, which posed a serious risk of death by electrocution. AR Maxwell 41, 55.

B. The Board Affirmed the Department's Citation with Modifications, and Trial Court and Court of Appeals Affirmed

In affirming the citation resulting from the violations, the Board reasoned that the "circumstantial evidence strongly indicates that the

transmission pole intruded into the minimum approach distance and became a conductor causing an electrical arc." AR 5. Potelco appealed to superior court, which affirmed the Board. CP 65-67.

At the Court of Appeals, Potelco argued that substantial evidence did not support the Board's finding (FF 3) that the pole encroached within the minimum approach distance of the live line and the Board's finding that employees were not using sufficient electrical protective equipment or using insulated devices when handling the pole (FF 6). *Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, No. 50824-9-II, slip op. (Aug. 14, 2018).²

The Court of Appeals rejected Potelco's claims in an unpublished decision. First, the Court found that substantial evidence showed that the pole encroached within the minimum approach distance of the live line. Slip op. at 8-9. The Court reasoned that the evidence showed that when a pole enters the minimum approach distance of an energized line it causes an electrical arc, which the testimony showed had occurred here. Slip op. at 8-9. Second, it concluded that the evidence showed that pole encroached the minimum approach distance because workers testified that the uncovered pole tipped and rotated and then cross-arm came around and employees saw and heard the arc. Slip op. at 9-10. Applying the

² Potelco did not challenge the Board's finding that the employees did not have protective equipment or cover rated for the 115 kV line. Slip op. at 12.

findings of fact to the conclusions of law, the Court of Appeals concluded that Potelco committed a serious violation of the minimum approach distance rule (WAC 296-45-325(4)) and a serious violation of the rule requiring that employers ensure employees use proper protective equipment to avoid electrocution (WAC 296-45-385(1)(c)) because the violations could result in serious injury or death as shown by the electrocution injuries Morrison received. Slip op. at 11-15.

IV. ARGUMENT

This routine appeal does not involve issues of substantial public interest, contrary to Potelco's claims. Pet. 6. The Court of Appeals correctly reviewed the Board's findings for substantial evidence and applied well-established principles of law. This Court should decline review.

A. Review is Not Warranted in This Substantial Evidence Case

Washington employee safety rules require employers (1) to ensure employees do not take a conductive object within the minimum approach distance of a live power line and that each employee wears electrical protective equipment when they do, and (2) to ensure employees use insulated devices when handling a pole near an energized overhead wire and that no employee contacts the pole with an uninsulated body part.

WAC 296-45-325(4); WAC 296-45-385(1)(c). Here, substantial evidence shows that Potelco failed to do both.

Ample evidence supports the Board's determination that Potelco violated the minimum approach distance rule (WAC 296-45-325(4)). The inspector concluded that the electrical arc showed that Potelco employees brought the pole and the uninsulated Peavey hooks directing the pole within the minimum approach distance. *See* AR Maxwell 40, 50-51, 53. The employees testified that they heard and saw the arc. AR Morrison 81; AR Street 94; AR Chase 111-12; AR Circulado 121-22. The fact-finder was entitled to consider this evidence, and Potelco's arguments about its expert's opinion to the contrary is an improper attempt to reweigh the evidence. *See Frank Coluccio Constr. Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 181 Wn. App. 25, 35, 329 P.3d 91 (2014). ³

Likewise, substantial evidence supports the Board's conclusion that Potelco failed to ensure Potelco employees used proper precautions when installing the pole near an overhead line—a violation of WAC 296-45-385(1)(c). The shocked crewmember wore insufficient personal

³ Potelco renews its claim here that its hired expert "provided an alternate explanation for how the crewmember could have received an electrical shock without the pole ever making contact with the line or even entering the MAD." Pet. 4. But Potelco's expert merely described how electrical fields are created and discussed static charges and did not testify that happened here. AR Hagan 138. In any case, appellate courts do not reweigh the evidence in WISHA appeals. See Frank Coluccio., 181 Wn. App. at 35.

protective equipment because his class 2 rubber gloves were rated only for 17 kilovolts. AR Maxwell 41. And the Peavey hooks the crewmembers were using were not insulated. AR Circulado 121; AR Maxwell 36, 51. So the employer failed to ensure the employees used proper equipment rated for 115 kilovolts when the pole broached the minimum approach distance of the live power line. Because substantial evidence supported the Board's conclusions, this case raises no novel legal issues.

B. This Case Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Potelco fails to articulate why this substantial evidence case raises issues of substantial public interest, but instead vaguely alludes to reasons it believes this Court should grant review.

Without any citation to the record, Potelco suggests that the Board applied strict liability. Pet. 6. It did not. Rather, it applied the facts to each of the required elements of WAC 296-45-325(4) and -385(1)(c). AR 3-10. Further, on appeal, Potelco challenged only whether the Department showed it failed to meet the cited standards and whether its employees were exposed to the violative condition. *See* Appellant's Brief 2-3, 9. The Court of Appeals considered both these claims and rejected them. Slip op. at 8-15. This is not strict liability.

Potelco suggests that because RCW 49.17.010 finds it is "in the public interest for the welfare of the people of the state of Washington" "to assure, insofar as may reasonably be possible, safe and healthful working conditions for every man and woman working in the state of Washington" that this matter is one of significant public interest. *See* Pet. 6-7. By this reasoning, any of the thousands of citations issued by the Department must be reviewed by this Court. That cannot be the standard for meeting RAP 13(b)(4).

Contrary to Potelco's claims, employers do not require this Court to weigh in to receive "guidance on when the Department may issue citations related to encroachment into the [minimum approach distance]." Pet. 7. The Department already provides detailed high-voltage regulations and policy guidance providing the requirements for high voltage work.

WAC 296-45; see, e.g., DOSH Directive 18.55.4 The Department also has a consultation program that allows employers to ask for guidance from the Department without the risk of being cited for any violations identified during the consultation. See RCW 49.17.250.5 None of reasons stated by Potelco here merit consideration by this Court.

⁴ https://www.lni.wa.gov/safety/rules/policies/pdfs/dd1855.pdf.

⁵ See About Workplace Safety & Health Consultation, https://lni.wa.gov/Safety/Consultation/About.asp.

V. CONCLUSION

Potelco failed to take safety precautions to prevent an electrical shock injury when its employees were performing a power pole installation around a live high-voltage power line. The result was an electrical arc and a serious shock injury requiring hospitalization.

Substantial evidence supports the Board's findings that Potelco employees broached the minimum approach distance and failed to wear sufficient electrical protective equipment or use insulated devices when handling the pole. Because Potelco fails to show how this substantial evidence case raises issues of substantial public interest, this Court should deny review.